FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/5/2020 9:16 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/6/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>98243-1</u>

(Court of Appeals No. 51695-1-II)

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD E. (TED) COATES; MICHAEL CROWLEY; MARK BUBENIK and MARGARET BUBENIK, d/b/a Steele Manor Apartments; THOMAS H. OLDFIELD; and INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS OF NORTHWEST UTILITIES, an Oregon nonprofit corporation,

Petitioners,

ν.

### CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

David F. Jurca, WSBA #2015
djurca@helsell.com
Andrew J. Kinstler, WSBA #12703
akinstler@helsell.com
Emma Kazaryan, WSBA #49885
ekazaryan@helsell.com

II.	IDENTITY OF PETIONERS				
III.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION2				
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	Tacoma's Municipal Electric Utility4			
	B.	Creation of Click as a "Separate System"5			
	C.	Bond Validation Lawsuit5			
	D.	Build-Out of HFC Network and Launch of Click6			
	E.	Electric Utility Subsidies for Click7			
	F.	City Attorney's Legal Memo9			
	G.	All-In Plan10			
	H.	This Lawsuit			
VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED11				
	A.	The Court of Appeals Decision Is in Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court and Published Opinions of the Court of Appeals			
	В.	This Case Presents Issues of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Decided by the Supreme Court			

			Pag		
		1.	This case directly affects the economic interests of nearly 180,000 ratepayers served by Tacoma's electric utility		
		2.	Allowing the court of appeals decision to stand would render RCW 43.09.210 toothless and would undermine local government financial accountability across the state		
		3.	This case presents an important issue of first impression in Washington about the <i>res judicata</i> effect of declaratory rulings18		
VII.	CON	CLUSION			
APPE	ENDICE	ES			
	A.	Court	of Appeals Decision		
	B.	Order Granting Motion to Publish B-1			
	C.	City Attorney's Legal Memo (CP 58-64)			
	D.	RCW 43.09.210			
	E.	Tacor	na City Charter §4.5E-1		

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

<u>Cases</u> <u>Pages</u>
Andrew Robinson Int'l, Inc. v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 547 F.3d 48 (1st Cir. 2008)
City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of Tacoma, 108 Wn.2d 679, 743 P.2d 793 (1987)12, 14
Kightlinger v. PUD No. 1 of Clark County, 119 Wn. App. 501, 119 P.3d 501 (2003)13, 14
Lane v. City of Seattle, 164 Wn.2d 875, 194 P.3d 977 (2008)13, 14, 15
Okeson v. City of Seattle ("Okeson I"), 150 Wn.2d 540, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003)
Okeson v. City of Seattle ("Okeson II"), 130 Wn. App. 814, 125 P.3d 172 (2005)13, 14, 15
Okeson v. City of Seattle ("Okeson III"), 159 Wn.2d 436, 150 P.3d 556 (2007)13, 14, 15
<i>Uhler v. City of Olympia</i> , 87 Wn. 1, 151 P. 117 (1915)12, 14
Statutes and Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4)11, 14, 20
RCW 7.24 and 7.255
RCW 43.09.210
<u>Other</u>
Restatement (Second) of Judgments §33
Tacoma City Charter §4.5

### I. INTRODUCTION

This case will determine whether RCW 43.09.210, commonly known as the "local government accounting statute" or the "state accountancy act," will continue to serve as a cornerstone for trustworthy government accounting in this state, or instead will be rendered toothless by a mere naming convention that elevates form over substance. Specifically, this case is about the City of Tacoma's use of municipal electric utility revenues to subsidize a city-owned, money-losing cable TV and internet business known as the Click! Network ("Click"), contrary to the Tacoma City Attorney's advice that such subsidies violate the state accountancy act and the Tacoma City Charter.

This case also provides the Court an opportunity to rule on an important matter of first impression in this state, and to join the federal courts, the vast majority of all state courts, the *Restatement (Second) of Judgments* §33, and nearly all learned treatises that have addressed the issue, in holding that the *res judicata* effect of a declaratory judgment is limited to the matters actually decided in the judgment.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The petitioners ("ratepayers") are well-respected civic leaders in Tacoma and are customers of the city's municipal electric utility. They are a former director of utilities for the city (Coates), a former Tacoma mayor

and city councilman (Crowley), a former chief assistant city attorney for the city's utilities (Bubenik), a retired prominent lawyer in Tacoma (Oldfield), and an association of large industrial customers of utilities in the Pacific Northwest (ICNU). They were plaintiffs in the trial court, where they obtained an order granting partial summary judgment declaring that municipal electric utility revenues may not lawfully be used to pay for expenses of the Click cable TV and internet business operated by the city. The city sought and obtained discretionary review by the court of appeals, which reversed the trial court in a divided 2-1 decision. The ratepayers now seek review by this Court of the court of appeals decision.

#### III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On December 10, 2019 the court of appeals filed its unpublished decision, consisting of an 11-page majority opinion signed by two judges and a 25-page dissenting opinion signed by one judge. A copy of the court of appeals decision is set forth in Appendix A hereto (majority opinion at A-1 through A-11, and dissenting opinion at A-12 through A-36). The ratepayers respectfully submit that the dissenting opinion, unlike the majority opinion, is fully supported by the undisputed facts and the law, and is much better reasoned and far more persuasive than the majority opinion.

<sup>1</sup> As of April 1, 2018, ICNU merged with an association of industrial gas users and changed its name to the Alliance of Western Energy Consumers ("AWEC").

2

On December 30, 2019 the city filed a timely motion to publish, arguing that the court of appeals decision "addresses two unsettled or new questions as a matter of first impression" and that "the decision is of general public interest [and] importance." Motion to Publish, at 2. The motion was granted by the court of appeals on February 11, 2020. A copy of the order granting the motion to publish is set forth in Appendix B hereto.

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May the city's electric utility revenues lawfully be used to pay for expenses of the Click cable TV and internet business that are not attributable to the electric utility?
- 2. May the requirements of the state accountancy act and Tacoma City Charter be circumvented by the simple expedient of organizing the Click cable TV and internet business along with the electric utility under the name "Tacoma Power" within the city's Department of Public Utilities? More specifically, is the Click cable TV and internet business a separate "undertaking" or "public service agency" from the electric utility for purposes of the local government accounting statute (RCW 43.09.210) and the City Charter?
- 3. Are the ratepayers' claims barred by the *res judicata* or collateral estoppel effects of prior declaratory rulings entered in 1996 and 1997 in a bond validation lawsuit that decided different issues?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Tacoma's Municipal Electric Utility

Tacoma's municipal electric utility, formally named the "Light Division of the Tacoma Department of Public Utilities," does business under the trade name "Tacoma Power." Tacoma Power is one of three divisions of Tacoma Public Utilities ("TPU"), the others being Tacoma Water and Tacoma Rail. CP 97. TPU is governed by the City's public utility board, whose five members are appointed by the mayor and confirmed by the city council. Utility budgets and rates are subject to approval by the city council. CP 96-97; CP 115-116.

Tacoma Power has six business units. Five of them (Generation; Power Management; Transmission & Distribution; Rates, Planning & Analysis; and Utility Technology Services) are involved in the generation, transmission, and distribution of electricity to utility customers and are integral parts of the electric utility. CP 97-98; CP 326; CP 1147, ¶5. The sixth business unit is the Click cable TV and internet business, which has no involvement in the generation, transmission or distribution of electricity and is not part of the electric utility, although it does share certain assets with the electric utility (as do Tacoma Water, Tacoma Rail, and other city departments). *Id*.

# B. <u>Creation of Click as a "Separate System"</u>

In 1996 the city council adopted an ordinance creating "a separate system of the City's Light Division to be known as the telecommunication system," CP 126 (Ord. 25930, §2.1, emphasis added), and adopted a plan for "the acquisition, construction and implementation" of the system. *Id.*, §2.2; CP 145. The plan called for construction of a hybrid fiber coaxial ("HFC") wired network capable of sending electronic signals to utility customers' homes and businesses and also connecting utility substations. The HFC network could be used both for the electric utility (*e.g.*, for communications between substations and automated meter reading) and for other purposes (like providing cable TV and internet service). CP 145.

### C. Bond Validation Lawsuit

In July 1996 the city commenced a bond validation lawsuit in the superior court under RCW 7.24 and 7.25, seeking declaratory rulings that the city had authority to operate a new cable TV and internet business and to issue revenue bonds to fund the first phase of construction and operation of the new HFC network. CP 710-711, CP 714. In accordance with RCW 7.25.020, the court appointed a citizen to represent the city's taxpayers and ratepayers. CP 756-57.

In December 1996 the court issued an order declaring that the city had authority to provide cable TV and wholesale internet service but

declined to rule on the validity of the proposed bond issuance. CP 789. The following spring, in April 1997 the city filed a second motion for summary judgment, asking the court to address the subject it had declined to address in the December 1996 order, *i.e.*, the validity of the bond issuance. CP 791. In May 1997 the court entered an order declaring that the city's initial \$1 million bond issuance was authorized but added, by handwritten interlineation in the city's proposed order: "however the court is making no finding as to the financial feasibility of the Project or as to the legality of any future bond issues." CP 847-48 (italics added, indicating handwriting).

## D. Build-Out of HFC Network and Launch of Click

Following the court's May 1997 order, the city began building the HFC network and then launched Click as a new business in 1998. CP 107; CP 180. The HFC network presently consists of about 400 miles of fiber-optic cable and 1,200 miles of coaxial cable. CP 178. Parts of the network were used to support the electric utility function of providing electricity, and parts were used to support the Click cable TV and internet business. CP 107; CP 229-30.

About 34% of the households in the electric utility's service territory are located in geographic areas not reached by the HFC network and where Click cable TV and internet service is therefore not available. CP 107, CP 451. Even in areas where Click service is available, most households

choose to get their cable TV or internet service from other providers2 or choose not to get such service at all or cannot afford it. In 2016, out of 176,784 electric utility customers only 17,468 (less than 10%) were Click cable TV customers and only 23,344 (about 13%) were customers of internet providers utilizing the network. CP 104, 108; see also CP 187.

Yet all electric ratepayers help pay for Click's capital investments and operating losses through increased electric rates, whether they are Click customers or not, or whether they live in areas where Click service is available or not. CP 77.

#### E. Electric Utility Subsidies for Click

In April 2000, shortly after Click started operating, a consultant for the city (PriceWaterhouseCoopers) recommended that network capital and operating expenses be segregated between those that supported cable TV and internet functions and those that supported electric utility functions. CP 203, CP 215. Another consulting firm in 2003 approved the city's method for allocating expenses between "power" applications (defined as supporting electric transmission and distribution operations) and "commercial" applications (defined as "cable TV, Internet and data transport services sold to wholesale and retail customers"). CP 229.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In 2016 Click's share of the local cable TV market was about 15%. CP 107; see CP 187 for later projections.

Subsequent technological and other changes, including a gradual transition from <u>wired</u> to <u>wireless</u> connections for functions related to the electric utility (like reading automated meters and communicating between substations), while the <u>wired</u> connections continued to be used for cable TV and internet purposes, led to revised allocations starting in 2015. CP 349-50; CP 245-46, 247, 256; CP 72. The updated allocations reduced the share of network expenses attributed to the electric utility from 25% to 6%, and increased the share attributed to Click from 75% to 94%. CP 258; CP 616; CP 1147, ¶6.³ Thus, the HFC network is used almost entirely for Click purposes, not for electric utility purposes.

The Tacoma City Charter requires that at least every ten years the city council must hire an outside consulting firm to perform a "general management review" of all utilities under the jurisdiction of the public utility board. CP 116. In 2014 the management consultant hired to perform that review concluded that the electric utility's subsidies for Click were unfair to electric ratepayers and should be ended. CP 73-74.<sup>4</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Click's net operating losses were \$1,406,192 for calendar year 2014 (based on the old allocations), \$5,267,364 for 2015 (based on the updated allocations), and \$5,742,857 for 2016. CP 260-61, 262-63, 264-65. According to the City's publicly available financial reports posted on its website, Click's losses in 2017 were \$4,910,312, and in 2018 were \$3,195,427. Click's losses were covered by using money from the electric utility. CP 73; CP 347-48; CP 324; CP 375; CP 432; CP 300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The City's director of utilities agreed that the electric utility's subsidies for Click were unfair to electric ratepayers, and Tacoma Power's entire senior executive team agreed that Click should be sold, leased or closed. CP 352-57, CP 360, CP 328.

# F. <u>City Attorney's Legal Memo</u>

In July 2015 the city attorney prepared a legal memo explaining that Click must be accounted for separately from the electric utility. CP 58-64 (Appendix C hereto). It pointed out that under City Charter §4.5, revenues of a utility may be used only for the necessary expenses of that utility and may not be used for the financial support of any other utility, department or agency (App. C at 1-2), echoing the requirements of the local government accounting statute that "separate accounts" must be kept for "each department, public improvement, undertaking, institution, and public service industry," that any service or property transferred from one public improvement or undertaking to another "shall be paid for at its true and full value," and that no public improvement or undertaking "shall benefit in any financial manner whatever by an appropriation or fund made for the support of another." App. C at 2-3, quoting RCW 43.09.210.

Applying those principles to the electric utility and Click, the memo concluded that electric utility revenues may not be used to pay for costs of providing Click cable TV and internet service, because those costs "are not sufficiently related to providing electricity to utility customers, thus must be paid for from non-utility revenues," adding that costs associated with providing both electric utility service and Click service "must be allocated and then paid separately by the two enterprises." App. C at 5-7.

# G. All-In Plan

Despite the city attorney's legal advice that electric revenues may not lawfully be used to pay for Click expenses, and despite the virtually unanimous opinions of utility management professionals and outside consultants that the subsidies for Click were unfair to electric ratepayers and should be ended, in December 2015 the public utility board and city council adopted resolutions directing Tacoma Power to develop a new business, financial and marketing plan (the "All-In Plan") to provide Click customers with enhanced and upgraded cable TV and internet service, requiring even greater subsidies from the electric utility. CP 168-174; CP 79-93; CP 356-57; CP 330-31; CP 270-280; CP 187.

Unsurprisingly, the city's director of utilities and the Tacoma Power superintendent testified that the All-In Plan "was not in the interest of Tacoma Power electric ratepayers," CP 357, and would be "inconsistent" with the city attorney's legal advice. CP 446-47.

### H. This Lawsuit

In early 2017 the All-In Plan was suspended after the ratepayers filed claims against the city challenging the electric utility's subsidies for Click. CP 361. In December 2017 the ratepayers filed a motion for partial summary judgment declaring that the subsidies for Click were unlawful. The city did not dispute any of the facts. Instead, it responded by arguing

(i) that the ratepayers' claims were barred by the declaratory rulings in the 1996 bond validation lawsuit, and (ii) that the state accountancy act and City Charter §4.5 were inapplicable to the subsidies for Click because the electric utility and Click were both part of Tacoma Power. CP 460-484.

On March 2, 2018, the trial court granted the ratepayers' motion and ruled that "electric utility revenues and funds may not lawfully be used to pay for Click! Network expenses or capital improvements that are attributable or properly allocable to commercial telecommunications service rather than electric utility service." CP 1084-1087.

The city was granted discretionary review, and on December 10, 2019 the court of appeals issued its unpublished opinion reversing the trial court. On February 11, 2020 it granted the city's motion for publication.

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be accepted because (i) the decision below conflicts with Supreme Court decisions and other court of appeals opinions (RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2)), and (ii) this case presents issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Is in Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court and Published Opinions of the Court of Appeals.

As set forth in the well-reasoned dissent, "[a] series of Washington decisions precludes a city's electrical utility from charging ratepayers for

extraneous endeavors." App. A at 30. The basic reason for using utility revenues only for utility costs was explained by this Court a century ago: "The object of municipal ownership [of utilities] is to give the citizen the best possible service at the lowest possible price...[otherwise] there can be no virtue in public ownership." *Uhler v. City of Olympia*, 87 Wn. 1, 14, 151 P. 117 (1915). The "lowest possible price" is one that covers the utility's necessary costs and not the costs of "extraneous endeavors" like Click.

Thus, this Court has held that a municipal electric utility may not impose on ratepayers the costs of activities that do not have a "sufficiently close nexus" to the utility's primary purpose of "supplying electricity to the municipal corporation and its inhabitants." *City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of Tacoma*, 108 Wn.2d 679, 695-696, 743 P.2d 793 (1987). In *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003) ("*Okeson I*"), this Court held unanimously that municipal electric utility revenues could not lawfully be used to pay for public streetlighting, because streetlighting was a general governmental function and not a proprietary utility function (delivering electricity to utility customers).

Okeson was multifaceted litigation with separate appellate decisions on different phases of the case, but all holding that municipal electric utility revenues could only be used for utility purposes. Okeson I, as noted above, held that electric utility revenues could not be used to pay for public street

lighting.<sup>5</sup> *Okeson II*, 130 Wn. App. 814, 125 P.3d 172 (2005), held that electric utility revenues could not be used to pay for public art not directly related to the utility. *Okeson III*, 159 Wn.2d 436, 150 P.3d 556 (2007), held that electric utility revenues could not be used to pay for a city program to combat global warming unrelated to the utility's own costs, because that program lacked a "sufficiently close nexus" to the utility's purpose.

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