FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/6/2020 4:49 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98243-1

Court of Appeals No. 51695-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD E. (TED) COATES; MICHAEL CROWLEY; MARK BUBENIK and MARGARET BUBENIK, d/b/a Steele Manor Apartments; THOMAS H. OLDFIELD; and INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS OF NORTHWEST UTILITIES, an Oregon nonprofit corporation,

Petitioners,

٧.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com Attorney for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

Back in the mid-1990s, Tacoma Power brought a declaratory judgment action against all Tacoma taxpayers and a certified class of all electric ratepayers. The Superior Court issued two orders, one authorizing the System, and the other authorizing the revenue bonds. Relying on these orders, Tacoma Power built the System.

In 2018, the trial court nevertheless granted summary judgment that the City could not operate Click! on the Excess Capacity of its System – a proprietary betterment of the System. The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that Click! is not a separate utility or undertaking, but merely a betterment of the System's Excess Capacity. *Coates v. City of Tacoma*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 688, 457 P.3d 1160 (2019) (attached as Appendix A).

Petitioners have not established that *Coats* conflicts with any decisions of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. On the contrary, *Tacoma Taxpayers*, *infra*, strongly supports *Coates*. Petitioners cite to but show no conflicts with six other inapposite cases. As the Court of Appeals noted, none of those cases is controlling or persuasive. And no issue of substantial public interest exists.

This Court should deny review.

FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

The facts are accurately stated in *Coates v. City of Tacoma*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 688, 457 P.3d 1160 (2019) (attached as Appendix A).¹

The Court of Appeals rejected both claims of the Petitioners. First, it held that the City did not violate the local government accounting statute (RCW 43.09.210) because Click! simply runs on the Excess Capacity of Tacoma Power's HFC Network. App. A-5 to A-7; see also, e.g., App. B-6. It is not a separate "undertaking" under the statue. App. A-5 to A-7. Any other reading of that term renders the other terms in the statute unintelligible. *Id*.

Second, the Court held that the City did not violate § 4.5 of its own Charter by establishing Click! as a "betterment" to its existing HFC Network, using its Excess Capacity to provide additional services to Tacoma Power's customers. App. A-7 to A-8.

These straightforward holdings dispose of the Petition.

And the City no longer runs Click! App. B-9.

¹ This Court just denied direct review in *Bowman v. City of Tacoma*, Wash. S. Ct. No. 98229-5 (April 29, 2020) (Transfer Order remanding to Division II). *Bowman* challenged the City's decision to transfer Click! *See* City's Response to Bowman's Statement of Grounds for Direct Review (filed April 21, 2020) (attached as Appendix B).

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. Coates does not conflict with any decision of this Court.

Petitioners summarily pronounce that the Opinion "cannot be reconciled with" *City of Tacoma v. Taxpayers of Tacoma*, 108 Wn.2d 679, 695-96, 743 P.2d 793 (1987) ("*Tacoma Taxpayers*"); *Uhler v. City of Olympia*, 87 Wash. 1, 14, 151 P. 117 (1915); *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn.2d 540, 78 P.3d 1279 (2003) ("*Okeson I*"); *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 159 Wn.2d 436, 150 P.3d 556 (2007) ("*Okeson III*"); and *Lane v. City of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 875, 194 P.3d 977 (2008). PFR 14. Yet they do not even attempt to explain any conflict. None exists.

1. Tacoma Taxpayers supports Coates.

Tacoma Taxpayers, for instance, is contrary to the Petitioners' position and does not conflict with Coates. There, the City sought a declaratory judgment on the constitutional and statutory validity of an energy conservation ordinance. 108 Wn.2d at 681. The trial court agreed with the taxpayers that the ordinance constituted a gift of public funds. Id. This Court reversed, holding (as relevant here) that the City's exercise of proprietary powers was well within the broad discretion cities enjoy when they exercise such powers:

Since 1910, we have broadly construed the means a municipality may use to conduct a statutorily authorized business. We have viewed the Legislature as implicitly authorizing a municipality to make all contracts, and to engage in any undertaking necessary to make its municipal electric utility system efficient and beneficial to the public. See Municipal League of Bremerton, Inc. v. Tacoma, 166 Wash. 82, 88, 6 P.2d 587 (1931); Puget Sound Power & Light Co. v. PUD 1, 17 Wn. App. 861, 864, 565 P.2d 1221 (1977). In addition, we have traditionally viewed an express grant of proprietary authority as implying those "powers . . . necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to [express powers] and also those essential to the declared objects and purposes of the [municipal] corporation." Port of Seattle v. State *Utils.* & *Transp. Comm'n*, 92 Wn.2d 789, 794-95, 597 P.2d 383 (1979).

Id. at 694-95 (citing in footnote 9: Tacoma v. Nisqually Power Co., 57 Wash. 420, 433, 107 P. 199 (1910) (broadly construed power to operate electric utility as extending power to condemn and purchase to acquiring existing private utility); Chandler v. Seattle, 80 Wash. 154, 141 P. 331 (1914) (broadly construed power to provide lighting as encompassing power to supply electricity); Tacoma v. State, 121 Wash. 448, 209 P. 700 (1922) (authority to operate utilities conferred "broad powers upon cities"); Seattle v. Faussett, 123 Wash. 613, 212 P. 1085 (1923) (broadly construed power to condemn and acquire conferred in authority to operate a utility); McCormacks, Inc. v. Tacoma, 170 Wash. 103, 107, 15

P.2d 688 (1932) (city has power to conduct its light business in a reasonable manner); *Armstrong v. Seattle*, 180 Wash. 39, 38 P.2d 377 (1934) (broadly construed power to operate stone or asphalt plant as including power to condemn despite absence of express words to that effect); *Metro. Seattle v. Seattle*, 57 Wn.2d 446, 460, 357 P.2d 863 (1960) (authority to provide sewer system implies authority to pay another to do so)).

In light of these well-established broad proprietary powers, this Court has long limited "judicial review of municipal utility choices to whether the particular contract or action was arbitrary or capricious, see, e.g., State ex rel. PUD 1 v. Schwab, 40 Wn.2d 814, 829-31, 246 P.2d 1081 (1952), or unreasonable, see, e.g., McCormacks, Inc. v. Tacoma, 170 Wash. 103, 107, 15 P.2d 688 (1932)." Tacoma Taxpayers, 108 Wn.2d at 695. This Court will note the Petitioners do not claim that any arbitrary or capricious acts occurred here.

Tacoma Taxpayers held that the City's conservation program had a "sufficiently close nexus" to the Legislature's purpose in granting the power to operate an electric utility. 108 Wn.2d at 696. Specifically, implementing "conservation measures frees up electricity supplies for sale to other customers, thereby

furthering the efficient provision of low cost energy and providing for future needs." *Id.* It is also "the cheapest and cleanest alternative for meeting future electrical supply needs." *Id.* at 696-97.

If a negative nexus like conservation is sufficiently close, then a positive nexus – maximizing the use of the City's HFC Network by selling its Excess Capacity to serve utility customers – is much closer to the purpose of providing efficient utility services. The nexus is so close here that it runs on the same network of cables. App. B-6.

In sum, not only can *Coates* be "reconciled" with *Tacoma Taxpayers*, it directly supports the Court of Appeals' analysis. *See* BA 30-31. Indeed, this Court has unequivocally rejected the argument that RCW ch. 35.92 – which underlies the key cases plaintiffs rely upon² – limits a city's power to own a cable television system. *Issaquah v. Teleprompter Corp.*, 93 Wn.2d 567, 574-75, 611 P.2d 741 (1980) (RCW Ch. 35.92 does "not address municipal ownership and operation of cable television systems," and "no general law . . . conflicts with the city's authority . . . to operate such a system"); see also *In re Ltd Tax Gen. Obligation Bonds*, 162

² E.g., **Okeson I, II** & **III**, supra & infra.

Wn. App. 513, 526-27, 256 P.3d 1242 (2011) (citing *Teleprompter* to affirm city authority to operate fiber-optic network and to provide broadband internet via excess capacity). No "conflict" exists.

2. The 105-year-old *Uhler* is inapposite.

Uhler was "a suit to test the validity of a series of bonds issued by the city of Olympia under the act of 1909." 87 Wash. at 3. That city designed to "purchase by way of condemnation a waterworks plant within the city." Id. This Court gave two main reasons for striking down the bonds: first, the city's plan was void because it deviated from the plan presented to the voters by authorizing more than the value of the bonds (i.e., commissions and costs were tacked on). Id. at 9 ("the city cannot by a subsequent ordinance change the plan in any of its essentials without a like vote of the people"). Second, in dicta the Court said the \$4,500 in commissions were illegal because they exceeded the value of the bonds, because no such commissions are legally authorized, and because they are usurious. Id. at 10-14. The Court also ruled that it was perfectly fine for the city to pay from the general fund for the water it used, as it was thus properly acting in a proprietary capacity. Id. at 14.

Here, the taxpayers' suit on the bonds occurred in the late 1990s. See BA 4-6. The Superior Court authorized the bonds, including the City's plan to sell the Excess Capacity of its new system to provide cable services to its customers in a proprietary capacity. See id. (citing, inter alia, CP 649-50, 676-77, 684-85, 712, 759-69, 772-74, 788-89, 847-48, 927). Any suit challenging those final rulings on the bonds at this late date would be barred in several ways – but the Petitioners do not challenge those bonds. **Uhler** is inapposite. No conflict exists.

3. Okeson I & III are inapposite, not conflicting.

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the *Okeson* line of cases is neither controlling nor persuasive here. App. A-6 n.5. This Court's two cases, *Okeson I & III* are simply inapposite.

In *Okeson I*, Seattle (and other cities) passed an ordinance requiring utility customers to pay for streetlights. 150 Wn.2d at 544. The State Auditor told Seattle this was unlawful because providing streetlights is a public governmental function, not a proprietary utility function. *Id.* at 545. This Court ultimately held that utility customers cannot be made to pay for services provided to the public in general, as opposed to proprietary services directly to ratepayers. *Id* at 550-56. More specifically, the charges imposed on

ratepayers were a tax, not a fee for service provided; the city did not properly impose a tax, so the ordinances were invalid. *Id*.

Okeson I is obviously inapposite. Here, the City imposed no taxes on its ratepayers to provide services to the general public, like streetlights. Rather, the City charges its customers a fee for a proprietary service – Click! – provided solely to its customers. Ratepayers pay not for a public service, but for a proprietary service solely for them. **Okeson I** does not conflict with **Coates**.

In *Okeson III*, the issue was whether a municipal utility was permitted to mitigate the effects of its greenhouse-gas emissions by paying public and private entities to reduce those entities' emissions. 159 Wn.2d at 439. This Court held that, as with streetlights, "combating global warming is a general government purpose . . . not a proprietary utility purpose." *Id*. Thus, "such mitigation expenses must be borne by general taxpayers rather than utility ratepayers." *Id*. This Court rejected the contracts.

Using the Excess Capacity of the City's HFC System to provide proprietary services to utility customers is nothing like requiring ratepayers to pay for general governmental purposes like combatting global warming. *Okeson III* is inapposite. There is no conflict between *Coates* and the *Okeson* cases.

4. Coates does not conflict with Lane.

In *Lane*, Seattle Public Utilities (SPU) had long paid for fire hydrants throughout the city and its suburbs. 164 Wn.2d at 879-80. After *Okeson I* came down, Seattle saw that hydrants are like streetlights, so it started paying for hydrants from its general fund; it then imposed a tax on SPU, who raised rates on the city and suburbs. *Id.* at 880. This Court held that hydrants are like streetlights – a general government function – but the tax was fine because it was adopted as a tax (unlike in *Okeson I*, where the charges were not properly adopted as a tax). *Id.* at 886-87.

As with the *Okeson* cases, *Lane* is inapposite because it involved a utility charging ratepayers to provide services to the general public (hydrants), while *Coates* involved a utility providing proprietary services to customers using Excess Capacity. No conflict exists with any case. Review is unwarranted.

B. Coates does not conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Petitioners also allege that two Court of Appeals decisions are irreconcilable with *Coates*: *Okeson v. City of Seattle*, 130 Wn. App. 814, 125 P.3d 172 (2005) ("*Okeson II*"); and *Kightlinger v. PUD No. 1 of Clark Cnty.*, 119 Wn. App. 501, 81 P.3d 879 (2003). Neither case conflicts with *Coates*.

1. Coates does not conflict with Okeson II.

In *Okeson II*, Seattle passed an ordinance requiring utilities and other city departments to allocate 1% of their capital-improvement-project budgets to support public art. 130 Wn. App. at 817. The trial court applied the "sufficiently close nexus" test (used in *Tacoma Taxpayers*, *supra*) to invalidate many – but not all – of the art projects, and struck down the ordinance. *Id.* at 817-18. The Court of Appeals largely affirmed, but allowed the ordinance to stand, as limited by the trial court (*i.e.*, some art projects did have a sufficiently close nexus to the legislative purpose). *Id.* at 818.

This Court will note that the Petitioners did not claim below that no sufficiently close nexus exists between using Excess Capacity to provide additional customer services (e.g., cable) as a proprietary betterment of their utility service, on the one hand, and the legislative intent to provide utility services, on the other. Such an argument is absurd on its face: the two services literally run hand-in-hand, inside the same System. The nexus is *very* close.

And like the other *Okeson* cases, *Okeson II* is inapposite. Again, proprietary services like Click! are analyzed differently than governmental functions like streetlights, hydrants, and some public art. *See*, *e.g.*, *Lane*, 164 Wn.2d at 882 ("We treat governments")

differently if they are acting as governments or as businesses"). Selling Excess Capacity to provide cable services to utility customers – a betterment of their utility – is not a general public function, but a proprietary business, albeit one that the City has now discontinued. *Coates* does not conflict with *Okeson II*.

2. Kightlinger cannot conflict with Coates.

The Petitioners' reliance on *Kightlinger* is perplexing. This Court rejected its reasoning – and its test – as in conflict with *Tacoma Taxpayers*, in *Okeson III*:

There is one other published case in which the required [sufficiently close] nexus was found to be lacking. In *Kightlinger* . . . taxpayers challenged a utility district's authority to run an appliance repair business. The Court of Appeals held that a utility activity bears the required close nexus to furnishing electricity only if that activity is "the same as" producing, selling, or distributing electricity. *Id.* at 511. Based on that rule, the court concluded that utility districts lack implied authority to repair appliances.

While we pass no judgment here on whether appliance repairs are an authorized utility activity, we decline to embrace the reasoning of the Kightlinger decision because it appears to be based on a misreading of our decision in Taxpayers of Tacoma.

In that case, we held that the city of Tacoma had implied authority to install conservation measures in private homes and businesses. *Taxpayers of Tacoma*, 108 Wn.2d at 696. We noted that "in the world of electric utility professionals an investment in conservation is considered the equivalent of

purchasing electricity." *Id.* at 693. The *Kightlinger* court apparently relied on that language, saying the "[k]ey["] to our decision "was the unchallenged factual finding that conserving electricity was essentially the same as producing new electricity." *Kightlinger*, 119 Wn. App. at 510.

But that was not the only ground cited by this court in concluding in *Taxpayers of Tacoma* that a sufficiently close nexus existed between conserving electricity and generating or selling it.

Rather, we were also concerned with whether Tacoma's activity served broader utility purposes of efficiency, pollution and cost control, and planning for future needs. Thus, *Taxpayers of Tacoma* did not establish a bright-line rule that a utility may engage only in activities that are the "same as" furnishing electricity.

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